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Preface


This is a diary. It consists of notes and jottings, and of events and encounters, during my seven years in the world of policymaking. I wrote them erratically and intermittently, with no real purpose in mind, maybe with the hope of leafing through the pages in later years, and for my grandchildren to discover them. The idea of publishing it as a book came much later, but I have tried to stay true to the original spirit of a diary. It is a record of impressions of the moment. This means that some people whom I met and liked then, I now wonder why; and some, with whom it was a fleeting encounter, I wish I had made more effort to get to know them better. I have not made corrections in the text to the judgements of the moment, though now, in retrospect, I wish I could meet some of them again to ask if I got them wrong or they have changed. Aung San Suu Ki, for instance, belongs to this category.


The two parts of the book—Delhi and Washington—are rather different. In Delhi, the shock and awe of moving from the ivory tower of academe to the world of politics and policy was so overwhelming that I kept copious notes. This became sparse after I moved to the World Bank in 2012. As a result, the Washington years are not as comprehensive. The reader has to put up with the fact that what is recorded here actually happened and is true but there were events and encounters with people and organizations that I kept no record of, and they do not appear in the book.


Once I began transcribing my sometimes-illegible diaries, I took a lot of help from research assistants at Cornell. I would like to record special thanks to Grace Lee, Sylvia Blom and Haokun Sun for their help. They went beyond the call of their job descriptions so many times that I am grateful to them. I have been lucky in general, in being surrounded by colleagues and students who are brilliant, warm and friendly.


As I worked on this diary, I had to reach out repeatedly to my World Bank friends for help with finding documents and records. I would like to thank in particular the people who comprised my so-called Front Office Team: Vivian Hon, Laverne Cook, Bintao Wang and Grace Sorensen. By the time I was working on this, they were no longer part of my front office. But their prompt response to all my requests reminded me of their warmth and helpfulness.


I also worked with relatives and family to have them read bits and pieces and to discuss the style and content. I am grateful to Karna, Shabnam, Diksha, Mikey and Alaka for their advice and suggestions and also for the conversations and laughter. In addition, Shabnam read a large part of the manuscript when I was still vacillating about the value of this project, and shored up my confidence. Finally, Alaka, as always, read it all, and, as always, kept getting shocked at my grammar. I am grateful to her that readers will not get those shocks.


Finally, I am grateful to my editors at Simon and Schuster, Sayantan Ghosh, Megha Mukherjee and Himanjali Sankar.




Introduction


On 9 August 2009, I got an unexpected phone call. The call came as I packed my suitcases in our home in Hauz Khas in preparation for the long journey back to Ithaca the following evening, after the usual summer months in Delhi, to resume my job as chairman of the Economics Department at Cornell. Introducing herself as Vini Mahajan, a joint secretary in the office of the Prime Minister, she quickly got to the point. The prime minister wanted to ask me if I would be willing to serve as chief economic adviser to the Indian Government, a job that the prime minister himself had once done. I told her that this was too big a decision for me to answer off the cuff. Minimally, I needed to speak to the prime minister to know what he had in mind. The only catch was, I told her, I was leaving for the USA the following evening. She said she would call me back and did so ten minutes later, and asked if I could come to the prime minister’s residence the following evening, maybe on my way to the airport.


The conversation I had with Prime Minister Manmohan Singh the following evening changed the course of my career over the following seven years, as I moved out of the cloisters of academe to the frenetic world of policymaking, first in India, and after that at the World Bank in Washington. Perhaps because I came into this world so suddenly and with so little background experience, while there was a lot of fumbling and learning, I took it all in with a sharper focus and with some of the outsider’s objectivity that a jaded bureaucrat would not have. I realized early that it would be an experience worth recording, though I had no idea how long it would last, since I had to wrestle the frequent urge to fly back to Ithaca during the first several weeks. I began keeping a diary from 8 December 2009, the day I began my new job, in my grand office in the North Block, in Lutyens’ Delhi, perched on the majestic slopes of Raisina Hill.


This book is a revised version of my diary, revised because I often wrote the diary in a hurry at day’s or even week’s end with scant attention to grammar and readability. Also, I have now taken the liberty to insert some reflections in retrospect, without altering any description of what actually happened. These later additions are amply clear and, where there is any ambiguity, they appear either in parentheses or as footnotes.


I have occasionally omitted a name or blurred a person’s identity in trivial stories in order not to cause embarrassment to a junior staff in my office. There are one or two passages and conversations I decided to leave out because they contain sensitive material. But nowhere did I rewrite to alter the meaning or change a description of what had happened.


For some readers who will wonder after reading this book why I do not describe any act of corruption or bribery, I should add that this is because I never witnessed a corrupt deal being struck during my nearly three years in the Indian government. There are two reasons for this. First, while there is a lot of corruption in government, its incidence is not as high as many outside observers believe. Secondly, the corrupt ministers and bureaucrats—and I am sure there were some—would not cut a corrupt deal in the presence of someone like me, who has come to government from outside and will return to the outside world, and might even publish a book on his experiences someday.


My Indian government years were a period of high inflation, growth challenges (as the global financial crisis arrived ashore in India), and also a remarkable growth recovery; with India moving past China’s GDP growth rate, corruption scandals breaking, causing widespread street protests, a lot of late night decision-making, which you knew would rock the stock market the next day, and getting to know politicians who were outstanding as statesmen in the midst of all this, and also many who were not.


The World Bank years were never that close to actual policymaking, but nevertheless breathtaking in their scope. They ranged from interacting with policymakers in tiny remote countries like Samoa, to gigantic nations with comparable heft, such as China, through sitting down with leading researchers to compute and announce global numbers on extreme poverty and rankings on how easy it is to do business in different countries (fully aware that there would be calls from irate finance ministers as soon as these were published), to handling politics within the World Bank, which could actually be as challenging as any global economic problem.


The book is a record of this experience with my own thoughts on policymaking, on the meaning of morality in public life, on how to handle stress in public life, and much more woven into it. It covers the India period comprehensively and has snatches of my four years with the World Bank. My diary writing became quite sparse during my four years in Washington. I tended to write up descriptions when I travelled and there were also some of the Back-to-Office Reports written after my travel. I drew on some of those for this book. I should clarify that this is not a book on economics or policymaking. I recorded the professional side of my policy years in India in the book An Economist in the Real World: The Art of Policymaking. Maybe one day I will write a similar book about my Washington years. The present book is more on life and musings in the world of frontline policymaking.


I hope that the book will be not just interesting reading, but serve as some sort of history—pop, personal, biased, no matter what pejorative adjective one may wish to use. I am aware that different cultures respond differently when they hear the words: ‘It is history.’ For some, like the French, it signals the need for people to listen carefully in order to understand their own predicament. For others, such as for those in the fast lane in USA, the response it elicits is: ‘Good. So we can ignore it.’


I write this book with both the American and French attitudes in mind. This book will have much that is to be relished but eventually tossed out of one’s head, but also some musings and ideas to be carried along, mulled over and hopefully used to shape a better world, for better lives.




PART ONE


The Delhi Years


2009–2012




1


Initiation


8 December 2009, Tuesday


Personally, 8 December will go down as a marker date—the day I took up office in the Ministry of Finance to serve a two-year term1 as Government of India’s chief economic adviser, or CEA, as he is commonly known. My choice of pronoun is merely a reflection of the fact that no woman has been CEA, up to this 14th one. I have come to this job never having worked in the government. All my thirteen predecessors had had some experience, either as full-time civil servants or having served some years in the government in advisory or bureaucratic work.


It felt sufficiently momentous that I have decided to maintain a diary of my two years in or till I get thrown out of government, whichever is earlier.


14 December 2009, Monday


This first week in office as CEA may well have been the most bewildering week of my life. It was a week of welcome celebrations and greetings, of briefings and meetings, of learning names and forgetting them, of a stream of individuals walking into my office to tell me that they will be reporting to me or reporting to someone reporting to me. It was a week of a relentless twelve hours each day in office.


I find it difficult to believe that until two weeks ago I was working as chairman of Cornell’s Department of Economics, on the fourth floor of Uris Hall, occasionally looking wistfully out of my office window at the long winter shadows of trees and towers on those days when the clouds were kind enough to absent themselves, and taking walks along the banks of the beautiful Lake Cayuga, and complaining to myself of the pressure of work.


The changes I would have to adjust to were apparent the very first day I arrived at my office in the North Block within the imposing ramparts of Lutyens’ New Delhi, built by the British sometime in the early 20th century, on the slopes of Raisina Hill, to celebrate the shifting of the capital of their prized colony, India, from Calcutta to New Delhi.


As I got out of my official Ambassador car with my weather-beaten briefcase and cheap laptop, two persons emerged seemingly from nowhere and whisked these out of my hand. My first instinct was to run after them and recover my belongings.2 My usual experience, for instance when going somewhere with my wife and family, is to have heavy objects thrust upon me, not taken from me. The only times I have had things taken from me have been in mugging incidents, such as the one in Venice.


Relieved of my bags, I walked jauntily into the high-ceilinged building. As I approached my office and reached out to push open the huge wooden door, my men Friday did it for me. In these five days, I have not once touched the office door when getting in. It is like those airport doors with sensors that open automatically when people approach them.


The hardest learning that I am expected to do is not about these mechanical and, in some ways, trivial customs, but concerns speech. The problem stems from the fact that I speak clearly. The art of political speech is to say things that sound meaningful but are impossible to pin down. No one can say what you said is wrong because no one can understand what you said. You hear such speech from master politicians in not just India but the United States, the United Kingdom, China (if we knew what they were saying) and just about everywhere.


Since I mentioned the Venice mugging incident, let me complete my diary entry by recording the story because it is an achievement I am proud of. Also, it illustrates the art of translating theory (in this case, game theory) to practice, something that I will have to do a lot in my new job.


My wife and I had bought ice-cream from a road-side stall just outside St Mark’s Square. The best time for a mugger to strike (I realized later) is when both hands are occupied juggling cones and coins. And indeed, within minutes of buying ice-cream, I realized that my wallet was gone. It had money, credit cards and travel documents. Alaka wanted to rush to the nearest police station. I felt that would be useful service to Venice but of no use to us, and I was not feeling charitable. I reasoned there were two possibilities. Either the thief had run into the milling crowds in the main square or was still in the small cluster of people buying ice-cream. If it was the former, the wallet was lost; if the latter, there was hope.


Just then a young couple walked away from the group enjoying their ice-cream. There was some probability—somehow they fitted the age-profile of pick-pockets in my head—that they could be the culprits; so we began tailing them. If they were guilty, they would soon check if we were still behind them, I thought to myself. Soon they paused to look into a shop window and casually turned back.


So we also turned back. I told Alaka I was now almost certain they had taken it. Alaka did not believe me, but, being more intrepid than me in these matters, promptly walked up to them and asked (and the accusation was evident in her tone) if they had seen anybody suspicious near the ice-cream vendor since we had lost our wallet there. To this, the man turned his pocket inside out and said, ‘Check my pocket if you think I have taken it.’ Alaka and I spoke in Bengali that that unexpected response confirmed his guilt; and I insisted that he allow me to check his back-pack. He agreed and said that since we were in the middle of the street, we should move to a side. As we did so, his girlfriend moved away. The readiness with which he opened his bag made me signal to Alaka not to let the girlfriend out of sight. Alaka was clearly now persuaded for she literally held the girl physically. As the man rummaged in his bag, I threatened to call the police. The game, he realized, was up. He asked me to speak softly and called his girlfriend. The wallet emerged from her back-pack.


Late that night my wife and I walked to the same vendor to have another round of ice-cream to make sure that we did not get scarred for life with a phobia of street-corner ice-cream.


16 December 2009, Wednesday


The new challenges I would face in life as a result of my new job became evident early enough. Last evening, I travelled with Alaka and our daughter, Diksha, to Kolkata. I had some meetings to attend and also I had flown in from Ithaca directly to my job and wanted to catch up with my mother, who had turned ninety earlier this year and lived alone in Kolkata. I boarded the flight with a draft copy of the Mid-Year Review of the Indian Economy. The Mid-Year Review had been started by one of my predecessor CEAs, Ashok Lahiri. It provided a quick summing up of how the economy had done during the first six months of the fiscal year (April to September, in India) and some forecasts of where the economy was headed. It was to be placed in parliament three days later by Finance Minister Pranab Mukherjee, and, as always happened in India with such events, would attract a lot of media attention. Till then it was a strictly confidential document.


Never having handled anything more confidential than the salary list of faculty and staff in the Economics Department of Cornell, where I had been department chairman for a little over a year, I was quite callow in these matters. I worked on the draft, making minor corrections, placed it in the magazine pouch in front of my seat, took a nap, and on reaching Kolkata, got off the plane without the Mid-Year Review of the Indian Economy, 2009. After reaching my mother’s home, chatting with her for a while, as I opened my bags, I realized what I had done.


I panicked. The airplane was headed to Mumbai from Kolkata. True, most passengers would have no idea what that boring document was. But in case it was an economist or a corporate person, or, worse, a journalist, who got my seat and found the manuscript, it would be a coup for him or her. All the numbers would be out in the media before the finance minister presented it to the parliament. Who says democracy doesn’t have its downsides?


What should I do? I wondered. Calling the airport and saying this was a confidential document would be exactly the wrong thing to do. In addition to the numbers leaking out, some airport official could make some money selling it to a newspaper. I decided I would describe this as my research paper which was of great value to me as an academic document. So I began phoning, starting with an old friend, Kishore, who worked with the Airport Authority of India. He was vacationing somewhere and could not be of much help. I mustered up courage and phoned the Kolkata airport, without knowing anybody there, and pleaded about my life’s research having been left behind on a flight. Could some cleaning staff have found it? Alaka phoned the airline company to make the same plea on my behalf. People were surprisingly nice, but all to no avail.


I was now reconciled that there was a probability that it would leak out; and I realized, in case that happened, I would have to offer my resignation and I was sure the government would have no choice but to accept it. The only plus was that it would be the shortest term a CEA had held and I would have left the government with a record which in all likelihood would never be broken. Diksha said she was getting a headache from all this.


Around midnight, I told myself this was a trial, a trial to see if I had the mental capacity to take this in my stride. I reasoned, that I had not done anything wrong deliberately; and I had done my best to resolve the problem. Yes, this was a crisis but no one (excepting me) would get hurt by this. So I must go to sleep, tossing it out of my head. And to my surprise I discovered I had the capacity for that. I went to sleep peacefully. [This capacity has helped me all through my seven years in the world of policymaking.]


A few hours later, while it was still dark, the phone rang. It was the Kolkata Airport Authority saying that a sweeper had found the document and it was in their safe custody and we could come and get it in the morning. A sense of joy coursed through me, not only because the leak was prevented, but at the thought of how much goodness there is in the world. People who had no stake in my ‘research’, looked for my papers, found them, and had the decency to phone me at night, knowing that I was worried about this.


25 December 2009 Friday


It feels like the most eventful month of my life drawing to a close.


On 13 December, there was our son Karna’s wedding reception at the Delhi Flying Club. He and Shabnam, his classmate from Yale, had got married formally in New York earlier but we wanted a nice event in Delhi. Friends and relatives came from Kolkata, Mumbai, and some from America. And, given my current job, there was a lot of Delhi’s eminence grise.


On 14 December, the prime minister, Manmohan Singh, met me for a one-on-one meeting in his office. We discussed India’s main policy challenges and what he hoped I would be able to do. The prime minister also invited me to a lunch on 15 December. It was in honor of Lee Kwan Yew and was to be held at the prime minister’s residence, 7 Race Course Road, or 7RCR, as everybody called it. It was arranged for twenty people. Shashi Tharoor was there, as were Nandan Nilekani, Jayanthi Natarajan (very friendly), and Chidambaram (in a slightly dour mood). At dinner, I was seated next to Lee Kwan Yew’s daughter, Lee Wei Ling, who is a distinguished neuro-physician. She, it was quickly evident, is a remarkably intelligent woman. She kept asking me politically incorrect questions about India’s caste system and language-group politics in India. I tried to hush her up, but without success. She was unbelievably knowledgeable about India, Kolkata, Bengalis, Cornell University, and the town of Ithaca. She even asked me about Beebe Lake on the edge of Cornell.


My interactions with politics before this had been minimal. My father was briefly in politics, having served as the mayor of Calcutta and then as the speaker of the West Bengal Assembly. So I did meet some political figures then, but not too many and certainly did not get to know anybody well. My father himself was an apolitical politician. He had grown up poor and had studied law late in life because that was the easy thing to study those days in Kolkata. It was against all odds that he became one of the city’s most celebrated lawyers. I always felt his going into politics and becoming the city’s mayor was not because of any deep political passion but really to prove to himself (and, no doubt, to his street-corner friends from his childhood, with most of whom he had kept in touch) that he could make it to the top. Even though he did not have a great interest in politics, there were stories suggesting he had a knack for it. In 1963, when I was eleven, he went to Ottawa representing the Indian government for a conference. Those were days of rare foreign travel and so there was a lot of excitement among his clients and in the family. At that time, the controversial Barry Goldwater running for the US presidency was the big North American news. On the sidelines of the Ottawa conference my father gave an interview to a local newspaper in which he was asked about his views on Goldwater. His long answer, not giving out his hand, was praised by the Indian officials who travelled with him, and reported in a local newspaper as shrewd Indian diplomacy. We later learned from him, in the safe confines of our home, that he had no idea who or what Goldwater was. From the question he guessed it was either a contentious scientific invention or the name of a controversial politician. So he had to give an answer that would fit both.


However, since he was not ‘into’ politics, I got very little exposure to it.


I had met Manmohan Singh on several occasions, starting from before he joined politics.


[During the course of my nearly three years in his government I got to see him and talk to him regularly. Subsequently, after I joined the World Bank as its chief economist, I got to meet many politicians around the world. I am convinced that in terms of honesty, basic decency, and, in particular, lack of guile and intrigue, he has few peers in the world. There are, of course, human beings like that, but they typically do not make it to the top rung of politics. It is, I believe, indeed accidental that he made it to the prime minister’s post and India was lucky for that. Sonia Gandhi gets credit for this act of talent spotting and for the graciousness of pulling herself back from what was all but hers, to make way for Manmohan Singh.]


Two years ago, when I was not in public life, Chandrababu Naidu sent me a message, quite out of the blue, wanting to meet me. He had been one of India’s most dynamic chief ministers, having persuaded Bill Gates to move a large operation of Microsoft to Hyderabad, and I was curious. I went to meet him somewhere on Pandara Road.


It was a strange hour-long meeting. I was impressed by his concentration, and by his zeal to do something for Andhra Pradesh. It was a one-on-one meeting, but for a lady assistant of his (I presume), who quietly sat in one corner. Some way through the meeting, a man came in with a tray, said ‘Tea’, placed two tea cups in front of me and Chandrababu, and left. Fifteen minutes later, the same man came in, said ‘Soup’, and placed two soup bowls in front of us. I felt like asking, ‘What’s going on?’ but kept quiet, and had my soup instead. I couldn’t figure out why Chandrababu met me. Was he really interested in ideas concerning the economy? Was it some kind of atonement for having joined the BJP? Was he just interested in building up some intellectual network? He did talk about Amartya Sen. Did he want to get to know him, through me? And, also, did he always have tea and soup in quick succession? I did not get any of the answers but it was an early ‘political’ experience I cherished.


As it happens, Amartya Sen came to our home in Hauz Khas earlier today for dinner. We also invited Pulin and Nalini Nayak. It was a very pleasant evening. Sen was, as always, Socratic in conversation. A fine mixture of philosophical depth and humor. He told us that, because of his strong position in support of feminism and the letter ‘a’ at the end of his name, which suggested a woman’s name, some people—this was before he shot into prominence with the Nobel in 1998—assumed he was a woman. The most memorable letter he received was from a woman, who, exasperated by men, and wanting to support Amartya in some of his public debates on feminism, began the letter with: ‘Dear Ms. Sen, They will never understand…’


Amartya Sen has been quite a celebrity right from 1972 when I first got to know him as a teacher and later as my PhD adviser, but his stature has grown, especially because he straddles both economics and philosophy in a manner that has few peers. He is arguably the greatest living economist-philosopher in the world. He is also the greatest conversationalist I have known. People talk about Isaiah Berlin as the great intellectual conversationalist. I never met him but I have difficulty imagining a better conversationalist.


Having watched Amartya Sen’s growing band of admirers around the world I feel it is likely that one or two hundred years from now, he will appear to people looking back at history, as a personality as prominent as Rousseau or Voltaire. This leaves me with a quandary. I think of the period of Enlightenment and the intellectuals who lived and wrote then as representing one of the greatest human achievements, second maybe only to the rise of the Greeks, four and more centuries before the Christian era. The Enlightenment was a period of big strides in philosophy and mathematics—calculus came out of the works of Newton and Leibnitz, religion was jettisoned for a secular morality. During the rise of the Greek thinkers, we again saw the flourishing of philosophy and mathematics—there was the birth of geometry thanks to Thales and Pythagoras.


Amartya Sen is one of the finest minds of our time but can we really place him on the same pedestal as Rousseau? Let me clarify. What I am asserting is that he will likely end up there a few hundred years from now. For me this raises an interesting question about evaluating philosophers in their lifetimes and in retrospect. If it is true that Sen will rise to the stature of Rousseau over time, this begs the question whether we have a propensity to underestimate intellectuals in their lifetimes or overestimate them in retrospect. It is possible that Rousseau is great but not as great as he appears to us now a few centuries after his time. He, in his life time, was like Sen in his, and neither of them as great as Rousseau in retrospect.


One of the most remarkable traits of Sen is his wide interest. He is interested in economics and philosophy, of course, but he is also interested in mathematics, in contemporary politics (his knowledge of the nitty gritty of what is happening in India always surprises me), in ancient Indian history, and in everyday gossip. Seeing Sen today, mellowed by time, I remembered so many past meetings and occasions. The first meeting with him (which he will not remember) was in 1970, when I was an undergraduate student at St Stephen’s College. My dear friend, Sanjay Hazarika, and I were walking in the Delhi University campus when we saw a man sprawled on the pavement just outside the Delhi School of Economics. With the idealism of youth and upset that none of the pedestrians were doing anything, we ran into the Delhi School of Economics and saw Amartya Sen outside the main office. Sen was then (I believe) department chair and already a mini-celebrity. We barely said hello to him but insisted that he should call an ambulance or some help for the man in the street outside. He asked some questions about who the man was, whether he was unwell or just sleeping there. In our hurry, we had not garnered any information but rushed to call in help. Sen said he would send some of his staff to check out the person but we had better go out and be with the man. When Sanjay and I ran back to the same spot the man was gone. In retrospect I think he was a man who may have had a peg or two too many, slumped for a while, and then pulled himself up and walked away. In any case, Sanjay and I looked at each other about what we would do when Sen came out with his Delhi School entourage. It was obvious to both of us that there was only one course of rational action, since Sen had no idea who either of us were. We ran from the scene of the crime.


That was my first meeting with Sen. I should also add that Sanjay, who was one of the kindest persons I knew, got more and more disenchanted with the grave inequalities and injustices in our society, joined the revolutionary Communist movement and quit college before getting his degree to help usher in the revolution, which never happened.


Talking to Sen today I also got a flashback of maybe fifteen years ago, when Alaka and I, with Diksha (our daughter, then three or four years old) in tow, visited him at India International Center (IIC). He was visiting Delhi and staying at the IIC. Always up for a conversation, he invited me, Alaka, and Professor Anjan Mukherjee from JNU to visit him. We did not have a baby sitter at home and so took Diksha along and made her sit in a corner with paper and crayons, while we had a long conversation, ranging from economics and philosophy to gossip about economists and philosophers.


28 December 2009, Monday


The prime minister and Mrs Gursharan Kaur (his wife) invited me to a dinner at their residence held in honor of Japanese Prime Minister Yukio Hatoyama, and his wife, Miyuki Hatoyama. I arrived punctually at 8:30 pm—the joys of unpunctuality are clearly behind me now. Among the twenty dinner guests were L. K. Advani, Sonia Gandhi, Mukesh Ambani, Nirupama Rao, H. K. Singh (India’s Ambassador to Japan), and Deepika Padukone. I was surprised to see Deepika in that group but realized later that she was there for Miyuki Hatoyama, who was an actress, once upon a time.


Deepika looked stunningly beautiful. I introduced myself to her. She seemed visibly uncomfortable in this political-policy gathering (and must have been wondering the way I wondered why she was there at all). I liked the fact that she seemed a modest and sweet person. I talked with her a little but one of the visiting Japanese bureaucrats took to me more than her, and I was, much to my regret, whisked away to meet others. This was my first meeting with Mukesh Ambani. He seemed agreeable and we talked quite a bit about several matters, including higher education. I said hello to Sonia Gandhi, but not much else. The food was excellent and, as always in Indian political dinners, there was no alcohol.


1 January 2010, Wednesday


As another new year dawns, I look back at the last few crazy weeks of my life. Inflation is raging, there is effort to rein in the fiscal deficit, which had been deliberately raised to battle the global financial downturn since 2008 and, as always, every new expenditure creates new interests that refuse to let go of the money and so returning the deficit to where it was is turning out to be hard. Add to all this, the super-energetic Indian media is always around, watching and reporting on everything we say or do. This is maddening but in the long-run a strength that forces our leaders and bureaucrats at the top to be more transparent than they would be otherwise. The media, ever ready to contest and quiz the leaders, is India’s strength. Few nations outside the advanced economies have this kind of media and this raises India’s global stature and also its long-run growth prospects.


In the midst of fighting inflation, unemployment and hemorrhaging finance, I was involved in another battle—to get access to the large, well-maintained bathroom on the first floor, meant for the secretaries to the Government of India. The bathroom had three towel racks with three nicely laundered towels marked ‘Finance Secretary’, ‘Revenue Secretary’ and ‘Expenditure Secretary’. My two senior personal secretaries, and also the peons and ever-loyal driver, Manbir Singh, were upset by this. They reminded me that though I was called chief economic adviser, I had the rank of a secretary. In fact, I was the only other secretary in the Ministry of Finance, apart from the three who have ‘secretary’ attached to their title: Finance, Revenue and Expenditure. So instead of just using the VIP bathrooms on the ground and first floor, accessed by additional and joint secretaries, I should, they insisted, have access to the even better bathroom. It was their pride that was being hurt. I told them flatly that I did not see myself, amidst discussion of inflation control and deficit management, slipping in a request to the finance minister that I be given access to the special first floor bathroom.


So my personal secretaries, led by the chief of my administrative staff, the outstanding Mr Somanathan, took it upon themselves to wage the battle. And they won, they gleefully informed me this morning. Indeed, I was pleasantly surprised to see a fourth rack with a fresh towel marked ‘CEA’.


There was only one downside to this bathroom. It was fairly far away from my office; and along the corridor, the peons, security guards, and other officers sat on flat benches outside the offices of various senior bureaucrats. As is the custom in India, when a senior adviser or bureaucrat walks down the corridor, they all stand up and salute. As I left the bathroom today, to my dismay I found them all jumping to their feet to salute me. It is an uncomfortable thought that for the next two years I would get a salute for my performance.


2 January 2010, Thursday


Amartyada, as I and many others call him, invited Alaka and me to lunch with him and some friends at Taj Palace. The other guests were Chitra Sarkar (of Air India) and her husband Partha Sarkar, Anuradha Luther (Maitra), one time Delhi School student, with whom I shared many common friends but I had never met her before, and, surprisingly, also Vikram Seth. I instinctively liked Vikram, and since I am a great believer in instinct, I decided he must be a good human being, though there is no hard evidence of that, unlike for the fact that he is a great writer, one of the greatest in fact. I was terrified he would ask me if I had read A Suitable Boy. He did not. We discovered a common interest in art. He showed me pictures of his recent sculptures and I told him about my interest in painting sarees and T-shirts and we agreed to meet some day and see the real stuff.


I spent most of the day in my North Block office. It is such an ample and lovely office that the long hours are beginning to feel effortless. Today I began working on the Budget speech that Finance Minister Pranab Mukherjee will deliver in parliament at the end of February. I got totally absorbed in this. It is strange that it is possible to get absorbed in another person’s speech.


3 January 2010, Sunday


Relieved by the arrival of Sunday, Karna, Shabnam, Mai (mother-in-law), Alaka and I went to the renovated National Gallery of Modern Art. It is very impressive. What an art heritage India has. But it is sad that it gets so few visitors. The guards seemed quite annoyed that they had to keep their eyes open while we were there. India ought to make a greater effort to get Indians and especially school-goers interested in the creative arts. It will help the country be more innovative and even have higher GDP growth, in case art for art’s sake does not interest us.


Alaka and I had dinner at the home of Montek Singh Ahluwalia and Isher, with Narayana Murthy, Sudha Murthy, Nandan Nilekani, Rohini Nilekani, Amartya and Emma Rothschild. Montek’s home is such a gracious place and the conversation is always good. Feels a bit Renaissance-ish.


5 January 2010, Tuesday


Amartyada’s presence in Delhi means more dinner and lunch invitations for me. These invitations are a welcome break since the days are now endless quantities of work giving shape to the Indian Budget. We are also now working full pace on the Economic Survey of India. As an economist I used to read these annual surveys, maybe the most important yearly round-up of the Indian economy one could find anywhere. The Indian government may not be good at implementing economic policies but it has few peers in the quality of writing about economic policies. British colonialism is clearly not without its legacies.


It is exciting to be on the production side of the Economic Survey. As an academic I had led a perfectly selfish life. I hear so many economists say that they became an economist to help make a better society. That always made me feel a bit guilty because the only reason I became an economist was because the logic and puzzles of the economy seemed so fascinating. As a researcher I did nothing but indulge in that fascination. I like to believe that I am a good human being, who wants a better society and people to be better off. But I kept those concerns for after-work hours and for weekends. My work hours were time for self-indulgence. My only justification for this—not that I needed a justification—was that the finest research needs this, just as the production of finest art relies not on the artist’s desire to help society but the obsession to produce good art. I can see that this kind of obsession, as I had during my research career, can bring you face to face with moral conflict, for instance, if you realize that you have discovered how to make an atom bomb. Do you go ahead or stop? Luckily, I never had to confront such a dilemma. And, if I did, I feel certain, I would take the moral option.


Friends often asked me why I returned to India immediately after my PhD and did not work in England or the United States as most Indian PhDs did. Was it patriotism for India? Fortunately, or unfortunately, that was not the case. I think of patriotism—if by that we mean the propensity to think of one’s people as special—as immoral, like racism. I try hard not to be a patriot. The right way to live life is with human empathy for all, irrespective of race, religion, sexual orientation or nationality.


My return to India, after my PhD, was almost an unthinking decision. I had gone to England to study and I came back after that. It is possible that subliminally I was concerned about my aging parents and wanted to be close to them. Money has never been a major driver for any of my decisions (though I try not to let my employers know this) and so the fact that by returning to India I was taking a big salary cut was of little concern; I wanted to work for the innate pleasure of the work. Also, I loved India and that is where my cultural roots are. The somewhat anarchic, laid-back lifestyle of India appeals to me.


When I took up the job as CEA, I told myself that I had had enough of self-indulgence and I was going to do this in order to help create a better society, a better economy. I could have worked for any country but India is still a nation with vast numbers of poor people, and, given my roots and instinctive understanding of India, I was likely to be more effective here.


My ethical objection to nationalism finds comfort in the fact that two of India’s greatest minds, Tagore and Nehru, took a similar position. Both of them were instinctively against the stridency of nationalism, even though they loved India. Nehru is truly impressive on this because as prime minister he had to, of course, espouse the cause of the nation—his nation. But he was always uncomfortable with this. There must be few prime ministers or heads of states who could write, as Nehru did, that we have to live by our national identity now since that is the way the world is organized. But we must also strive to go beyond this and eventually create a world where our primary identity is that of citizen of the world.


This is pretty much the spirit in which I decided to enter the world of policymaking. I had had enough fun doing research as an end in itself. I would now work single-mindedly to try to raise the standard of living and well-being of the nation that was in my charge. That was the resolution with which I came to the government; and these last few weeks I have worked hard. Fortunately, I have a tendency to get hooked to whatever I do (once I have got over that initial hurdle of starting to do it); and I am finding the work quite exciting. The work on the Economic Survey is especially enjoyable. I also have a wonderful team of officers from the Indian Economic Service, totally dedicated to their job. In short, it is turning out to be enjoyable work but also quite exhausting.


So much so that the invitations I am getting by virtue of Sen being in town are turning out to be most welcome. There was lunch yesterday at Manmohan Singh’s residence, 7RCR, with Amartya, Emma, Montek, Isher and a few others. I met Daman Singh, the prime minister’s daughter, and her husband, who is a civil servant, for the first time. It is quite a remarkable family, where there is absolutely no pomposity involved by virtue of being the prime minister’s family. This is rare anywhere in the world and especially in developing countries.


Dinner last evening was at Vinay Bharat Ram’s home. It was a relaxing evening with Lord Skidelsky, the biographer of Keynes, whom I had read extensively but not met before and Lord Meghnad Desai, who was one of my professors at the London School of Economics (LSE). I don’t think I have ever met two lords in one room before.


My first meeting with Meghnad was quite a jolt to me. In 1972, when I was finishing my undergraduate studies in St Stephen’s College, I recall going to the university Coffee House one day with a bunch of college friends (I did that with more regularity than I care to remember) and we all commented on a man with a huge afro hairdo, wearing a shirt with shocking brightly-colored stripes. Several months later, after I joined the LSE, I was told to go and meet the person who would be my tutor. I knocked on his door, was asked to come in. The first sight was of piles of books on a table. Then from behind a pile emerged first the afro, then the man in the Coffee House.


It was a proper working lunch today with Nandan Nilekani at the Taj Chambers, mainly to discuss his unique bio-metric identification system.3 I think it is a transformative scheme that can help vault India ahead. Of course, much will depend on how much use it is put to. Nandan and others often emphasized that it is basically a technology to make sure that ‘you are you’. This is an inadequate way of explaining this. The right approach would be to describe this with a little bit of set theory. There are zillions of transactions and activities taking place in India—people buying goods, cutting deals, boarding trains, joining clubs. The unique identification system is a way of associating each individual with a subset of this universal set of transactions. In other words, the person who withdrew money from a bank in Chennai and the person who bought a train ticket in Delhi are the same person. This has meaning and can be contested, whereas ‘you are you’ is tautological. If transaction or activity is defined in such a way that each of them is performed by one person, then the unique identification system helps create a partition of the set of all recorded transactions and activities in India. Bio-metric identification is basically a platform for partitioning all the activities occurring in a country. The richness of the information will of course have its risks but all technological advances come with their own risks. We simply have to develop safeguards against them and try to get the benefits, which in this case can be very large, I believe.


6 January 2010, Wednesday


I went for my routine medical check-up, mandatory on joining the government (to make sure, I suppose, that you were not bringing some exotic bacteria into the government) to Ram Manohar Lohia (RML) Hospital, state-run and designated for use by government officials. It was a dreadful experience. I was instructed to come by 9 am on an empty stomach, and I did as advised. I soon discovered that the first task was being shunted from one room to another and even from one building to another, filling forms and signing my name in various places. I counted I signed in six different registers in different rooms. Since the keepers of the registers were often difficult to locate, this took an enormous amount of time.


After some time, with no X-rays, no blood tests, no medical examinations still done, I asked irritably, ‘When can I eat?’ The hospital official smiled genially and said, ‘You can eat now.’ It was never clarified why one needed an empty stomach to sign. After a lot of time I was directed to the office of the head of the division, Dr Chaturvedi. On my complaining to him that I had just filled forms and signed and no tests had yet been done, he said calmly that everything would be taken care of. I tried to chat him up a little, addressing him graciously as ‘Dr Chaturvedi’ hoping to energize him into quick action. But to no avail. I was later told by a nurse that Dr Chaturvedi was not there that day. The person occupying his seat was Siddhu. In retrospect, I was very impressed by Siddhu’s equanimity; he was completely comfortable with my addressing him as Chaturvedi and he even nodded as I tried to chat with him. Kafka should have been here. Siddhu told me to be in the waiting area and I would be taken care of.


Around 11:30 am a junior staff explained to me that a patient feeling harassed by the hospital had beaten up a radiology staff member and, as a protest, all his radiology colleagues had gone on strike, and it seems the wave of sympathy was so great even some staff from other departments had (he added the word ‘understandably’) stayed away from work. Hence, the hospital was somewhat chaotic today, he explained.


Seeing this junior staff member’s inclination to at least talk properly and explain, I asked him, if the whole process would have been faster on another day. He replied, ‘No, it would take the same amount of time.’


I suppose I should have cheered up that our government has created a system which is impervious to strikes making any dent to its working.


I eventually left without any tests being done.4


8 January 2010, Friday


Yesterday I sent a letter to Mrs Sonia Gandhi, saying that I have just joined the government and would, at some point, love to meet with her and share some of my ideas for India. I also mentioned that Alaka wanted to discuss her ideas on gender, women and health; Mrs Gandhi may want to save time by seeing us together.


When I came to office today my chief assistant, Mr Somanathan, came in to say that Sonia Gandhi’s office had called; she would see both of us at 4 pm. Alaka and I arrived there ten minutes before 4. There was heavy security, and we were ferried in her car from the outer gate to her home. She was waiting in a large, windowless (I seem to recall but I may be wrong), beautiful study. One wall was lined with books. Another had lovely photographs of Nehru, Indira Gandhi, Rajiv Gandhi and others.


At first, she seemed to be puzzled why we wanted to see her. She eased up when she realized that we had come with no special interest but just to chat and bounce off a few broad ideas. Then onwards, she laughed and talked easily, and was full of grace and charm. She talked about her mother-in-law, art in India, politics in Bengal. She spoke very warmly about other politicians. She said she liked Mayawati even though she made it difficult for all people with any Congress allegiance, including petty shopkeepers, in the state. She said this with a certain warmth and understanding of human foibles. I asked her about Mamata Banerjee. She seemed fond of Mamata, but added how she can at times be volatile, and then laughed and said, ‘Like so many Bengalis.’


My first assessment of her is that she is a good person on whom more power has been thrust than she would care for. When I told her that both Alaka’s mother and my mother were excited that we were going to see her, she looked genuinely puzzled and asked, ‘But why?’


There was a sense in her demeanor and even in the décor of her home of loneliness at the top. I kept remembering Rabindranath Tagore’s play, Raja.


As I got comfortable, I talked freely, asking her questions about Katherine Frank’s controversial (but eminently readable) biography of Indira Gandhi. We talked about the last night in Indira Gandhi’s life. I asked her if it was true that Sonia Gandhi was not feeling well that night and Indira came and chatted with her in the middle of the night and comforted her. She said that that was true. The next morning Indira Gandhi was assassinated as she crossed over from her home to her office to give an interview to Peter Ustinov.


Our meeting had begun at 3:55 pm. At 4:30 pm Alaka, feeling guilty that we were taking up too much of her time, said ‘We’d better leave. You must be busy,’ and we got up.


13 January 2010, Wednesday


This was one of the more eventful days since I joined government on 8 December. At 10 am I went to the prime minister’s residence for a Cabinet Committee meeting on prices. All secretaries had gathered in a cavernous waiting room, and I sat down with them. But soon an orderly came and told me that I was asked (I presumed by the PM) to go to the main room, where the meeting was taking place. This, I later learned, was the custom. The advisers and bureaucrats wait to be called in and join the cabinet meeting to answer questions or make a presentation.


The prime minister was at the head, flanked by the finance minister and the cabinet secretary. All senior ministers were there—Sharad Pawar, A. K. Anthony, P. Chidambaram, Ghulam Nabi Azad, Ambika Soni, Mamata Banerjee. Mamata smiled at me; I reciprocated. Warm nod from Chidambaram. The cabinet secretary, Chandrasekhar, was, as always, friendly and courteous. As I entered the room, he was in fact explaining my note on inflation to the cabinet committee who evinced not the slightest interest.


I entered the room amidst a friendly banter of exchange between Mamata Banerjee, Pranab Mukherjee, Ghulam Nabi Azad and others on the causes of inflation. After this subsided, the prime minister asked me to explain my views on how to control inflation. I explained that since at this time it was a strangely skewed inflation with the bulk of the rapid price rise taking place in the food sector, we needed to work on the architecture of food release; and gave them some specific ideas of what to do. The overall inflation, raging at about 10 per cent per annum, needed monetary and fiscal policies for its containment and that would take time. But the food inflation, at about 20 per cent per annum, could be quickly brought down by releasing food from our reserves in a well-designed manner. But the design was, I stressed, important.


At the end of the meeting, as we walked out, Mamata Banerjee, the maverick politician from Bengal, whom I had never met before, paused to talk to me. She was very friendly and assured me she will come to our home in Hauz Khas just for a chat one day.5 She has other flaws but pomposity and hierarchy is not one of them.


From there, I headed straight to the meeting of state finance ministers in Vigyan Bhavan. The meeting there went on and on. Asim Dasgupta spoke very well, as did the Punjab Finance Minister Manpreet Singh Badal. His principal secretary, Karan Singh, is a PhD from Michigan University and had worked with Ennio Stacchetti. During a coffee break, both the Punjab finance minister and the principal secretary invited me to Chandigarh. The meeting lasted till 5 pm, when I had to rush again to the prime minister’s residence, this time for a discussion of how NREGA was doing.


I returned to my office at 7.15, worked till 8.15 and went home feeling drained.


I have decided I have to, some day, write a book on my Government of India experience. Triste Tropics: Notes from my Years in the Indian Government, I would call it.6 The first week in my job I felt miserable and had to tell myself that if Malinowski could spend months on end among the Trobriand Islanders, surely I could take life in the North Block among politicians and bureaucrats for two years. I must treat this as my anthropological excursion, like that of Levi Strauss or Malinowski; or a scientific exploration to the tropics to collect flora and fauna, such as by Darwin.


I am indeed collecting a lot of impressions and learning a lot. I am now convinced that economic policy is so poorly crafted because it is developed by consensus among politicians. If an airplane was designed by this method—the wing should have an upward tilt because that is what seemed right to a majority, the nose should tilt left because that is what the majority wants—it would, in all likelihood, not fly.


Indian democracy has the disadvantage of a vertical structure. Everybody gets involved in every decision. You can see this from those ubiquitous government folders which travel from desk to desk, gathering no-objection signatures, before anything is approved. It is often felt this is what democracy is all about. Everybody or a majority has to be in approval for a decision to move. This is best described as a ‘vertical democracy’. But there can be another kind of democracy. Everybody has a say but not on all decisions. All the decisions are partitioned so that you get to have a voice for only the ones in your domain. India needs to shift from its relatively vertical structure of permission system which slows down decisions to a more horizontal, partitioned democracy.


When it comes to economic decision-making, it is a pity that it is not recognized that economics has a technical, engineering-type side to it. While economics is indeed open-ended and nebulous in some ways, in some areas it can be used with as much sharpness as in engineering projects. Auctions are a good example. Government can do vastly better if it sells resources not by evaluating them by themselves, setting price and selling it off, but by selling it off through well-designed auctions, which would endogenously determine what the price is.7


Another thing that I have learned is that in the Indian bureaucracy—and maybe this is a feature of bureaucracies everywhere—to any question that you may be asked, you never say you don’t have an answer. If you don’t have an answer to the question asked, then give an answer to a question for which you do have an answer, never mind no one asked that question.


15 January 2010, Friday


Marathon day. It began with a jog at 7:30 am in Lodhi Gardens. At 10 am I participated in a meeting on food grain release strategy of the government. 11:30 am: pre-Budget meeting with economists. At 1 pm, I went to the prime minister’s residence for a working lunch. There were twelve of us, including several functionaries of the Reserve Bank of India. The PM told me that he was keen to get a note from me where I spell out ‘how’ to release food grain from the government’s granaries.


So after lunch I worked almost continuously (interspersed with some previously fixed meetings), and at 7:30 pm sent the note to the prime minister, the finance minister, Montek Singh Ahluwalia, and the cabinet secretary. Dinner was at Taj Hotel, Man Singh Road, hosted by Dr Subbarao, the Governor of the Reserve Bank of India.


19 January 2010, Tuesday


The last two days were spent in Neemrana, the magnificent princely home, half-way between Delhi and Jaipur, for the annual economic policy conference organized by NIPFP and Brookings Institution. Alaka came with me. Manbir drove us there. Manbir has become my man Friday, a totally dependable person. He takes great pride in the fact that he is the driver for India’s chief economic adviser. And we get along well. The first weeks were a period of adjustment for him because of my relatively informal style, he being used to driving career bureaucrats. Two weeks ago, when I got into the front seat next to him (which I normally don’t) and reached for my seatbelt, he looked uneasy. Then turning to me, Manbir gently admonished me, ‘Now that you are not a professor but the Chief Economist of India, you don’t need to wear a seatbelt.’


Neemrana is such a beautiful place that the two days of conferring seemed blissful. So much so that I did not mind coming down with food poisoning on the last day. We drove back home yesterday, and I had no choice but to take the day easy.


Thanks to my absence from office for three days—the Neemrana conference and its aftermath on the stomach—today turned out to be a day of unprepared meetings. I was told I had a meeting at the Planning Commission at 3 pm and, on arrival, I was ushered into the office of the Planning Commission member, Saumitra Chaudhuri. Trying not to reveal my ignorance, I asked him the ‘details’ of the agenda. He laughed and said, ‘It’s the usual useless stuff.’ I tried to change my tack, because I had come so poorly prepared that I really had no idea what the meeting was about, and asked who else was coming for this meeting. He said, ‘With the Planning Commission you can never be sure,’ and burst out laughing. It struck me much later that may be he did not know what the meeting was about either.


I returned to my office in North Block to be whisked off to a meeting in Room 131A. I had no clue what the meeting was about but I thought I would sit in a corner and gradually figure out and maybe then make a remark or two. As I walked in to the room, everybody jumped to their feet. I had been long enough in the government to know what that meant. I was the chairman of the meeting. And that meant I was about to chair a meeting, without having a clue of what it was about.


It turned out that the meeting was about GBS. Since I had no idea what GBS stood for, this was a major handicap. Contrary to my hope that someone would say it in full, no one did. Clearly, it was such an important acronym that it had become a familiar word to all bureaucrats in the Ministry of Finance.


I was impressed by my ability to chair and participate vigorously in the meeting that lasted forty minutes, without managing to find out what GBS stood for. (GBS would later become an important part of my life. It stood for Gross Budgetary Support, which referred to the budget allocated by the Ministry of Finance to the Planning Commission for a variety of social expenditures around the nation, and it was a matter of much bargaining and soul searching in the Indian government.)


24 January 2010, Saturday


I came to Kolkata two days ago and spoke to the Kolkata Amcham (American Chamber) at the Park Hotel. They presented me with a beautiful paper cutter, an object I had forgotten existed. It’s interesting how certain gadgets fall out of use. In this case, the bigger puzzle was why every home needed a paper cutter once.


This morning Brigadier Bhattacharya, who hails from a non-descript village outside of Kolkata called Arbelia (which also happens to be my ancestral village) came to see me. He is quite an amazing person in terms of energy and ideas. He is ever full of them. He held forth today about the Society of Logistics Management that he was active in and, given the importance of this topic, he was trying to get even the village folks of Arbelia interested in this. As he talked at length on this, my mind drifted off wondering what exactly logistics management meant, when I heard him chortling, ‘The villagers, of course, have no idea what logistics management means.’ I joined him in the hearty laughter.


25 January 2010, Sunday


My life has been an intellectual rags to riches story. While a lot of appreciation is shown for rags to riches stories in terms of wealth and money, not enough is shown for my kind of achievement. I was born into a family remarkably devoid of intellectual achievements and aspirations. Especially the lack of intellectual aspirations is quite unusual among middle class Bengalis, who all seem to aspire to be poets, writers and mathematicians. The standard refrain for Kolkata school boys who refused to study was: if you carry on like this you will have no choice but to be a businessman—the ultimate failure.


My parents were not typical Bengalis in this sense. My father was one of the highest IQ persons I have known. He reasoned seemingly with perfection. He also had some freaky abilities, such as that of being able to read and listen at the same time. It was a common sight to see him in his chamber reading some document with some of his familiar clients speaking to him. New clients would often pause seeing him reading. He would impatiently tell them to continue speaking. But he was not an intellectual in any sense. He was not a scholar; not well-read in history or philosophy.


He grew up mostly very poor. His father had moved to Calcutta from a life of agriculture in Arbelia and then died early, plunging his twelve children and wife into a life precariously perched on the border of poverty. My father was the one who had to pull the large joint family out of this vulnerable predicament, through intelligence and hard work. He and my mother wanted me to be a man of the world. I was never told to study hard and do well in school, and I did not disappoint them. There was shock and awe at home when I once came 4th in class—it happened in Class 8. The only time I would beat that record would be for my MSc in Economics at the London School of Economics. My problem has always been that unless I find something very interesting, my mind switches off. Hence, good teachers have been critically important for me. In Class 8, there was Mr Vianna (or Vienna—there is a dispute among my school WhatsApp group about the spelling), who got me interested in studies. My interest in mathematics I owe to my father and Mr Bhaumik in my school, when I was in Class 11. The irascible Mr Bhaumik loved maths and infected me. And during my MSc in London, Amartya Sen, Ken Binmore and Maurice Perlman were teachers who inspired me hugely.


Intelligence was valued at home. My father loved mathematics and logic and was an admirer of Euclid. And his ability to reason in everyday life seemed flawless. I remember when I was very small, I must have told a lie and my mother was admonishing me for this. She told me how I should never tell a lie, because that displeases God. My father, who was passing by, stopped, and said, ‘You must try to never tell a lie so that on that rare occasion when you have to, you can get away with it.’ But he was not a scholar, and clearly he did not care for that. After a well-known Indian linguist and litterateur, Suniti Kumar Chatterji, came to my father for legal advice, my father spoke to him at great length and with respect for his stature. But after he left, I remember my father telling me—and I don’t know if it was his conversation with Dr Chatterji that prompted this: ‘Never do a PhD.’ I was in middle school then.


It was quite a break from my family tradition that I did do a PhD and did well by it. My decision to do a PhD was a decision on a whim in London. I wrote and told my father of my final decision, sparing him the agony of deliberation. All through my childhood my parents’ (and my) plan for me was that I would become a lawyer. Since I had an obsessive interest in logic from when I was small, I used to think of a lawyer’s life as one of endless indulgence in the joys of reasoning. A year or so after completing my PhD and seeing me despondent and worried as to whether I had been wise in chucking up a career as a lawyer (I never regretted the decision thereafter, in fact, I consider myself lucky I made the career switch) my father, usually a laconic person, consoled me with two observations which are etched in my memory. He said maybe I had done right by my decision. As a lawyer, my life would be tied to a handful of wealthy clients in Kolkata, whereas as an academic the world could open up to me. Working as a teacher in India then, I took this as a father’s comforting words and never imagined this could be true in any sense. In retrospect, the world did open up in ways beyond my wildest expectations and I feel so fortunate for that.


The other observation was not verifiable; so I do not know if he was right. He said, since I wanted to be a lawyer in order to indulge in a life of logic and reasoning, I should have no regrets. If I did become a lawyer I would soon discover that I would have to hold back on the best arguments in order to make sure the judge followed my reasoning; and that usually meant quite a low bar.


Reminiscing about the past, I described my ancestral village, Arbelia, as nondescript. It may be worth digressing to point out that Arbelia has one great achievement. It is the birthplace of the founder of the Mexican Communist Party, in fact the world’s first communist party outside of Russia. M. N. Roy, born in Arbelia, led a colorful life as an intellectual involved with the international Trotskyite movement. He lived in Moscow, California and Mexico (and Arbelia of course). It was when he was living in Mexico with his American wife that he, along with a small group of Mexicans, founded the Socialist party in 1917, which would two years later become the Communist Party. I do not know what the Mexicans think about the fact that having founded Communism in Mexico, he changed his mind about Communism and became a radical humanist.


6 February 2010, Saturday


Today was the meeting of all chief ministers, 10 am to 5:30 pm, at Vigyan Bhavan, to discuss the raging inflation. Sharad Pawar was conducting it. He, the prime minister, the finance minister, Montek Ahluwalia—deputy chairman of the Planning Commission, and K. V. Thomas from Pawar’s ministry were on the dais. The room was full of chief ministers, senior bureaucrats and representatives from various states. I chatted briefly with Nitish Kumar and Shiela Dixit.


Pawar opened the meeting, giving a catalogue of the various actions that have been taken. For such a powerful politician, Pawar has an unusual speaking style. Like a somewhat jaded historian, his speeches are always a detailed compendium of things done or ought to be done. The prime minister spoke and then the chief ministers were called upon to speak.


In terms of pure oratory, in my opinion, the two best speakers by a wide margin were Nitish Kumar and Narendra Modi. If I had to rank the two I would put Nitish at number one spot. His Hindi was lyrical; so it was good oratory with a literary flair. Modi’s speech had a rabble rousing quality that was unmatched.


This kind of a meeting, a first for me, was fascinating. It was a melee of cultures, accents and languages. What a fascinating country India is. The Uttaranchal chief minister spoke in Hindi, the ones from Punjab, Bengal and most other states spoke in English, the political head of Pondicherry spoke in Tamil and there were a few chief ministers who spoke in what language I could not be sure.


Lest anybody equates my praise for the two speeches with the speakers, I should hasten to add that I like Nitish Kumar. He has made mistakes but on the whole (and yes, admittedly, by the standards of politicians) his intentions seem good.


The preaching of hatred against groups—be that of religion, caste or race—should have no place in the modern world. Growing up in a traditional Bengali Hindu household, I was always taught that the one basic moral axiom by which we must try to live is universal love.


I would grow up to reject a lot of what I was taught in my childhood. By the time I was fifteen, I was clear that a kind and powerful God who created everything, which includes so much human suffering, was a logical impossibility. Either he is not kind or he does not have the power to eliminate human suffering. And if you insist he has both these qualities the only way to reconcile that is by the conclusion that he does not exist.


My parents were traditional but open-minded enough not to object to my atheism. In fact, my hunch is that my father was a skeptic. He was too clear-headed a person not to be so. He would every Tuesday go to the Kali temple but I heard him say on more than one occasion, as he got into the car to go to the temple, ‘I don’t really believe, but I don’t want to take any chances.’ There should be a caveat to this argument. Since we don’t know anything about God, we should allow for the fact that God may not like those who pray regularly and disturb Him. So it is not obvious what ‘not taking chances’ should prompt you to do. I virtually never pray and have been so lucky in life that I am tempted to conclude that not only does God not exist but He loves me.


I must here record that, despite being a non-believer, I share the value of universal love and inclusion taught by many religious leaders. I believe that the killings and violence directed at the minority Muslim population that took place in Gujarat in 2002 should be condemned by all human beings, be they Hindus, Muslims, Christians, Jews, agnostics or atheists.


11 February 2010, Thursday


Today I sneaked off to see the film The Japanese Wife. Since everybody in the Ministry of Finance has been working relentlessly on the Union Budget, I gave the impression I was leaving the meeting to do some work alone. I felt guilty leaving office at 9 pm. However, I felt better seeing Pranab Mukherjee also leave just before 9, seemingly to do some quiet work. Then the terrifying thought struck me of bumping into the finance minister at the cinema. I wonder who would be more embarrassed if I saw him at The Japanese Wife.
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